
ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW TEAM 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
JANUARY 23, 2014 

 
 
 
 
ART Members and Designees: Gary Gunderman, Planning Manager; Alan Perkins, Fire 
Marshal; Ray Harpham, Commercial Plans Examiner; Aaron Stanford, Civil Engineer; Fred Hahn, 
Director of Parks and Open Space; Colleen Gilger, Economic Development Administrator; Jeff 
Tyler, Building Standards Director; and Dave Marshall, Review Services Analyst.  
  
Other Staff: Rachel Ray, Planner II; Jennifer Rauch, Planner II; Justin Goodwin, Planner II; 
and Laurie Wright, Staff Assistant.  
 
Applicant: Ross Sanford, Lincoln Construction; Mark Ford, Ford & Associates Architects; David 
Homoelle, State Bank; Jason Hockstock, Advanced Civil Design; Todd Faris, Faris Design & 
Planning; and John Behal, Behal Sampson Dietz Architects.  
 
Gary Gunderman called the meeting to order. He asked if there were any amendments to the 
January 14, 2014, meeting minutes. [There were none.]  The minutes were accepted into the 
record as presented. He asked if there were any amendments to the January 16, 2014, meeting 
minutes. [There were none.]  The minutes were accepted into the record as presented. 
 
CASE REVIEWS  

1. 14-002BPR/CU – BSC Office District – State Bank – Shamrock Boulevard and 
West Dublin-Granville Road 
 

Gary Gunderman said this is a request for review of a 10,754-square-foot office building (“Loft” 
building type) to be constructed on a ±1.25-acre site that is currently part of an overall 2.85-
acre parcel located at the northeast corner of Shamrock Boulevard and West Dublin-Granville 
Road. He said the proposal includes a retail banking and mortgage services facility and a 
request for conditional use review for a drive-through. He said this Basic Site Plan Review 
application is proposed in accordance with Zoning Code Section 153.066(D), and this 
conditional use review application is proposed in accordance with Zoning Code Section 153.236.  
 
Mr. Gunderman said he was reviewing comments received today on the proposed drive-through 
and architecture. He said, with respect to the drive-through configuration, most drivers expect 
to pull into drive-throughs from the left, whereas this alignment is the opposite, with a 
clockwise movement. He said that drivers typically do not like looking over their car hoods and 
may misjudge the right turn. He asked if it was possible to expand the area or if the drive-
through could be moved to the other side of the site to allow traditional counter-clockwise flow.  
  

 

 
Land Use and Long 
Range Planning 
 
5800 Shier Rings Road 
Dublin, Ohio 43016-1236 

 
phone 614.410.4600 
fax  614.410.4747 
 
www.dublinohiousa.gov 
____________________ 

 



Administrative Review Team Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, January 23, 2014 

Page 2 of 5 
 
 
Mr. Gunderman stated that there was also some concern that customers waiting in line for the 
teller or ATM machine would stack through the drive-through lane and out into the drive aisle 
off of Banker Drive, potentially blocking the curb cut and stacking out onto the public street. He 
noted the limited number of stacking spaces. 
 
Ross Sanford, Lincoln Construction asked if there was a Code requirement for stacking.  
 
Rachel Ray said there was no specific number of required stacking spaces, but the ART would 
factor in the operations for the facility and their documented needs for stacking spaces.  
 
Mark Ford, Ford & Associates Architects, said the drive-through was placed on the east side of 
the site to avoid bisecting the lot with a drive-through right down the middle. He suggested that 
if the drive-through were rotated 90 degrees, vehicles would approach the kiosks from the 
north and leave to the west.  
 
Mr. Sanford noted the potential for a future cross-access drive to a new parking lot on the 
undeveloped portion of the parcel to the west.  
 
Justin Goodwin asked if a revised parking lot/drive-through configuration would make it 
awkward for the handicap spaces to potentially back into the drive-through area. 
 
Ms. Ray asked David Homoelle, State Bank, if he had examples of drive-through patterns from 
State Bank’s other branches. Mr. Homoelle said he did not. He said that not a lot of emphasis 
was placed on the drive-throughs for tellers or ATMs because of the small market they are in. 
He said that most of the time, these stations are incorporated onto the building, next to the 
branch, where this is different as it is totally detached. 
 
Dave Marshall remarked on the short queuing lane for the drive-through, noting a similar but 
different situation. He said Tim Hortons backs up on Hospital Drive.  
 
Ms. Ray asked what the expected stacking was for the bank. Mr. Homoelle explained that 
getting customers to enter a bank has become challenging with so many customers conducting 
business online. He said that only four to six customers enter per hour.  
 
Mr. Gunderman asked if he knew the numbers of customers that frequent the outside kiosks. 
Mr. Homoelle said he did not. He remarked that he has never seen anyone stacked at the 
Huntington Bank on Village Parkway, where he also banks, and it is a much larger bank. He 
said State Bank would be different as they were offering mortgage services, which would attract 
customers coming inside the building. 
 
Mr. Gunderman suggested considering the change to the site layout. 
 
Aaron Stanford said the geometry of driveway needed to be tweaked to allow for better turning 
movements. He said the east side radius needed to be opened per the water service on Banker 
Drive. He said the small stormwater facility on the west side of the building had condensers in 
the same area, and he cautioned the applicant to be careful with grading in that area. He asked 
if the sanitary services on the west side of the building would conflict with the new storm line. 
He asked if service could be run closer to State Route 161. He inquired about the western 
driveway and if it was intended for shared access as the lot line splits the driveway in half. 



Administrative Review Team Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, January 23, 2014 

Page 3 of 5 
 
 
 
Mr. Goodwin confirmed that there was enough room left on the undeveloped portion of the site 
to expand the parking lot to the east for a new user. 
 
Gary asked each of the ART members if they had further comments or questions. [There were 
none.] 
 
Ms. Ray invited Mark Ford to present the overall concept of the architectural design.  
 
Mr. Ford presented the four-sided building that had two “fronts,” facing West Dublin-Granville 
Road and Banker Drive/the parking lot. He said that the majority of customers would enter the 
building from the north side. He explained that there were different functions in the building 
and that it is not an even 50/50 split. He said the retail portion would occupy less than 1,500 
square feet. He pointed out that the footprint of the building presents a bowtie effect with two-
thirds on one side and one-third on the other. He presented a model of the flat roof building, 
which showed the architectural relief as required by Code. He explained the proposed materials 
to be used and the patterning of the windows. He said brick would be used on the larger 
sections, copper shingles on recessed area at the entrances, and limestone on the columns and 
canopy. He said the walkway canopy on the north side of the building has a cedar strip edge. 
Mr. Ford explained that the vertical spacing of the columns reflects the same proportions of the 
windows. Mr. Ford said the overall concept was a more urban type of architecture, with simple, 
clean details, which was a departure to many of his projects.  
 
Ms. Ray asked if an expression line could be incorporated into the top of the building, 
suggesting a scoring pattern. Mr. Ford said they were considering brick patterning at the top so 
that section would not appear bigger than the middle band. 
 
Jeff Tyler asked if the copper panels would patina and how they planned to handle the runoff. 
Mr. Ford replied yes, they would patina over time, and said they were taking great care as to 
how it would be attached. Mr. Tyler commented that the copper would turn a greenish color. 
Mr. Sanford said based on other projects he has seen, it would be brown for a long time. Mr. 
Ford said they expect it to age like real copper would. 
 
Mr. Gunderman asked if there were any other questions or comments. [There were none.]  He 
said the ART had another week to review and would welcome everyone back next week. He 
reiterated that the target recommendation date from the ART to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission is February 6. 
 
Mr. Ross asked if staff could meet to discuss the revised site layout in terms of the drive-
through configuration. Ms. Ray said that would be fine, and recommended that the applicant 
sketch out their ideas before getting too far along with the design. She also suggested they 
take another look at the pocket plaza layout. She offered to share a design suggested recently 
for a project utilizing a similar small pocket plaza. 
  



Administrative Review Team Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, January 23, 2014 

Page 4 of 5 
 
 

2. 14-003ARTW – Sprint Wireless Rooftop Co-Location – 5080 Tuttle Crossing 
Boulevard 
 

Rachel Ray said this is a request for Sprint to replace three panel antennas and install six new 
remote radio heads and three new fiber optic cables on the roof of an office building located at 
the northeast corner of the intersection of Tuttle Crossing Boulevard and Bradenton Avenue. 
She said this is a request for review and approval of a wireless telecommunications facility 
under the provisions of Chapter 99 of the Dublin Code of Ordinances. 
 
Ms. Ray said a determination will be made at next week’s meeting, January 30, 2014. She 
noted that Verizon brought an application to the ART a few months ago for the same site, and 
this was a similar request for Sprint. 
 
Ms. Ray explained that the applicant plans to remove the existing cabinets and antenna panels 
within six months following the installation of the new panels and cabinets. She said there is an 
existing equipment shelter, but there may not be space for the two interim equipment cabinets. 
She said the applicant is showing the two interim cabinets next to the compound on a 
temporary pad. Ms. Ray presented the existing screen walls and explained how they plan to 
proceed during the temporary conditions. She reported the proposed fiber optic cables will all 
be wired internal to the building.  
 
Ms. Ray said the applicant has inquired about the next steps for building permitting following 
ART approval.  
 
Ray Harpham said that as a four-story building, they might need type 2A construction, and 
would need to determine how the cables will penetrate the roof and floors. Ms. Ray said they 
submitted structural analysis and asked Mr. Harpham if he could review the analysis and make 
a determination about what permits may be needed. Mr. Harpham said he would review the 
materials. 
 
Mr. Gunderman asked if there were any further comments on this application. [There were 
none.] 
 
DETERMINATION 

3. 14-001ARB-MPR – BSC Historic Residential District – Tackett Residence – 
South High Street 
 

Jennifer Rauch said this is a proposal for the construction of a new single-family dwelling 
located southeast of the intersection of South High Street and Waterford Drive. She said this is 
a request for review and approval of a Minor Project in accordance with Zoning Code Sections 
153.063(B) and 153.170 and the Historic Dublin Design Guidelines. 
 
Ms. Rauch said the applicant is resolving issues ART raised last week.  
  



Administrative Review Team Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, January 23, 2014 

Page 5 of 5 
 
 
Sanitary Sewer Access 
Ms. Rauch reported that the property owner has contacted their neighbor to the north to make 
plans for the sewer connection. John Behal said the neighbor had extensive landscaping but 
nothing major in the sewer easement.  
 
Existing Manhole  
Aaron Stanford said the manhole should be two feet from the driveway. Ms. Rauch said a 
condition will state that the applicant work with Engineering to make any modifications 
necessary to ensure adequate spacing between the driveway and the manhole.  
 
Recreation Site Fee   
Ms. Rauch reminded the applicant that the Recreation Site Fee, which was a condition of 
approval of the Final Plat, needed to be paid prior to the issuance of a building permit. 
 
Egress Windows 
Ray Harpham asked if there was proper spacing of the egress windows for the bedrooms and 
bonus room. Mr. Behal said they were resolved on these revised plans. 
 
Proposed Building Materials 
Mr. Behal presented a building materials board containing samples of the stone, gray asphalt 
shingles, fiber cement siding, shutters, and paint colors.  
 
Trees 
Mr. Behal said there were no trees on the lot; they were all on the adjacent property. 
 
Mr. Gunderman invited any further comments or questions. [There were none.] 
 
Ms. Rauch concluded that the Administrative Review Team recommends approval of the request 
to the Architectural Review Board with three conditions: 
 

1. That the recreation site fee be paid prior to issuance of a building permit; 
2. That the applicant work with Engineering should any modifications need to be made to 

the inlet located along South High Street; and 
3. That the applicant will be responsible for securing off-site easements and/or agreements 

with the adjacent property owner to provide sanitary sewer service connection. 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE 

Mr. Gunderman asked if there were any further items of discussion. [There were none.] 
The meeting was adjourned at 2:50 pm. 


